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PROLOGUE


Just before eleven in the morning of 8 February 1942, a little steamer suddenly appeared around the headland and swung its bow towards the wharf. A single shout rose up from the mass of humanity crammed onto the dock, a cry – more a sob – like the wounded moan of some gigantic beast. Since well before sun-up, several hundred men, women and children had been waiting. Now, drunk with suppressed panic, and sweating under the awful tropical heat, they fought off the gnawing terror that maybe – even now – they might not get away.


Nothing about this sultry morning was normal. The usually idyllic tropical harbour of Tulagi, a tiny island serving as the administrative capital of the dreamy British protectorate of the Solomon Islands – replete with palm trees, blue water and a majestic mountain backdrop – was today the setting of human desperation. Whimpering children, dressed in their Sunday bests, clutched a favourite toy with one hand and the sweating palm of a parent with the other. Some of the planters’ wives were likewise absurdly overdressed, wearing whatever couldn’t be packed into the single case the army had permitted them to take. Some had ignored the edict and stood surrounded by expensive luggage, daring the marshals to do their worst, and enduring the furious stares of those who had complied with the order.


Even the ship, the familiar old Burns Philp steamer Morinda, with its cheerily painted funnel and porthole trim, looked more like a cruise boat for a load of holiday passengers rather than the last hope of escape from the all-conquering, unstoppable Japanese.


Outside the perimeter, the native islanders stared into this mass of departing Europeans. To think it had all come to this. The bosses, the masters, missionaries, the patrol officers and administrators, along with their wives and families, all of them chucking in the towel and taking their manicured world of high teas and gin and tonics with them. No more formal Sunday lunches in white suits, no more tennis matches or carols about snow and reindeers.


With them would go all the old colonial assumptions which for a century or more had stood fast and inviolable: that they would somehow always be the ones in charge; that the gold, the rubber and the oil ultimately belonged to them; that to superimpose their culture and their religion onto those they regarded as inferior would always be their God-given right.


Now, on this little wharf, the whole ramshackle system was crashing down around their ears.


Blank-faced, the islanders looked on. They weren’t going anywhere. Many of them had been brought over from other islands to work here for the Europeans and now they were being abandoned, stranded with no income, no food, and no way to get back to the protective bond of family and village. There would be no escape for them: the only faces on this last boat out of the Solomons would be white.


Even now, some of those Europeans departing cursed themselves. If only they had listened. Weeks – weeks – had passed since the offer of leaving on their own terms was raised. The stories of Japanese brutality had trickled down in terrified whispers from Malaya, Borneo and then, unbelievably, Singapore. But no, the Japanese will never come here, not those little men, those imitators with their wind-up toy army and aeroplanes made – according to the rumours – from bamboo.


They were not nearly so smug now – this macabre, shuffling carnival of humanity.


A whistle sounded. People edged towards the water as the gangways loomed closer. Australian soldiers appeared, walking rapidly down the quickly disintegrating lines. ‘Leave that … leave that … get rid of that,’ they grunted, kicking an army boot into a tightly packed trunk or valise, any remonstration ignored or met with a shove. Approaching the gangway, one burly uniformed man tried to rip a toy from a child’s grasp until the mother put her body between them and glared him down with a white-hot gaze. The man spat a four-letter word at both of them and waved them through, the child hugging the toy tight to her little chest. ‘Essentials, only essentials. You’ve all been told!’ shouted a thin young officer through a tin megaphone. People at the back surged, fearing they would be left behind, held back only by a thin line of khaki. Scuffles broke out. One man – a doctor, or so he said – dislocated his shoulder.


Then, incredibly, at the top of the gangway, a single arriving passenger. The crowd, momentarily distracted, quietened. He was a slight man, dressed in a perfectly pressed pale suit, holding a small, ivory-coloured case. He resembled a salesman or an office clerk. Calmly, he began to make his way down the gangway. The crowd drew back as he stepped onto the dock. He politely thanked those who made a passage for him so he could pass to the rear. For a bewildered moment, all eyes followed his progress, then turned again to the gangway and forgot him completely.


With remarkable haste, the dock emptied, leaving behind a detritus of abandoned luggage, handbags, books, government forms, papers and fluttering administrative records. As the last of the passengers fought their way onboard, the man with the pale suit headed towards the town’s colonial government building with a confident gait.


Martin Clemens, Coastwatcher, had arrived for work.









Chapter 1


BEGINNINGS


By 1922, Eric Feldt had had enough. With a heavy heart, he reluctantly put his name to the letter resigning his commission in the Royal Australian Navy. If the navy was not going to allow him to see the world, he would have to go and see it for himself.


Eric Feldt was born in 1899, the eighth child of immigrant parents who had uprooted themselves from Europe in the 1870s to seek a better life in tropical north Queensland, a place so alien to their native Sweden that his mother, Augusta, could scarcely believe the two places inhabited the same world. Feldt had toiled on his father’s struggling cane farm near Ingham, but from an early age hankered for adventure in the wider world. His parents, luckily, knew the value of education, and Feldt’s natural intelligence came to the notice of a teacher at his modest country government school. His parents were encouraged to apply for a scholarship to the prestigious halls of Brisbane Grammar, where the boy excelled at everything he tried. After only a year at the school, Feldt learned that the new Australian Navy was seeking its first intake of officer cadets for the following year, 1913. Thinking a life sailing the seas would be to his liking, Feldt applied and was selected as the sole Queenslander among 28 successful candidates from 137 applicants.


Inside the austere bluestone edifice of Osborne House, Geelong, Australia’s first naval officers’ college, Feldt rose to become Chief Cadet Captain – a position he later said meant almost nothing – graduating in time to play his part in the greatest war the world had ever seen.


Eric Feldt had only just turned eighteen when, along with most of the other boys of his Pioneer Class, he set sail from Brisbane in the first week of 1917 on the steamer RMS Omrah, landing in Plymouth on a grey afternoon in the middle of a British winter, from which point Feldt later said he would ‘not be warm for another four years’.


Assigned to one of the mightiest of His Majesty’s fighting vessels, the super-dreadnought Canada, Feldt’s dreams of exciting action followed by quick promotion completely failed to materialise. Seemingly permanently at anchor with the Grand Fleet at Scapa Flow, the Canada spent the war primed for a showdown with a German Grand Fleet that never showed up. Feldt spent most of his first year fighting boredom, attempting to digest awful navy food and nurturing a deep loathing for the British class system which would stay with him the rest of his life.


Even when promoted from lowly midshipman – the worst of all ranks, engendering neither respect from officers above nor sailors below – to the single stripe denoting him a sub-lieutenant, Feldt and his original classmates stuck together, finding strength in numbers while enduring the prejudices of the English to whom they were nothing but ‘colonials’ or simply ‘those bloody Australians’.


On the few occasions Feldt was at sea, he was assigned to the ‘spotting top’, a small cupola atop a tripod mast 120 feet above the water, where he worked a range-finding instrument known as a dumaresq, which plotted with relative accuracy the speed of a moving enemy vessel. No such vessel was ever sighted, and Feldt described the job as ‘cold, windy, dreary, and with very little shelter’.


Only once did Feldt play at least some part in an actual battle, albeit a confusing and inconclusive engagement known as the Second Battle of Heligoland Bight. In dreadful November weather, Canada joined the dozen or so ships of the First Battle Squadron, part of a larger force heading across the North Sea to Denmark to intercept a German fleet trying to clear British sea mines. So dire were the conditions that the admiral in command remarked to his officers, ‘I don’t know where we are. I don’t know where the enemy is. If I see anything, I’m just going to ram.’ Nothing, fortunately, was seen, and the closest Feldt came to the fight was listening to the distant boom of gunfire somewhere up ahead through the fog. Feldt’s sole injury came courtesy of an iron fitting on a coal sack which struck his head while he was on loading duty.


When the war ended in November 1918, Feldt felt he had come a very long way to see very little of the war indeed, and had little to do but draw his meagre pay and wait.


As 1918 passed into 1919, a fellow officer suggested they apply for a short intelligence officers course in Greenwich, though more as a means of getting off the ship as much as a desire to imbue themselves in the world of naval intelligence. While Feldt later stated that he learned not a lot, it was the first step in the direction of the world he would inhabit during the next war, twenty years later.


Fed up with being unable to greet their beloved son at an Australian dock, Eric Feldt’s parents made the trip to Europe themselves – their first since emigrating forty years earlier – reuniting with him for a few weeks in London. It would be two years before the navy’s glacially slow ‘last in, last out’ policy would return Feldt to Australia on the ocean liner Orsova, which had recently resumed its prewar London to Australia service. Finally, a week before Christmas 1920, Feldt stepped ashore into blissfully warm weather in Fremantle, Western Australia.


Choosing to remain in the peacetime navy, Feldt was assigned to the RAN’s flagship, the light cruiser HMAS Melbourne, where his fleet commodore transpired to be no less than John Dumaresq, the brilliant and mercurial Australian-born admiral and inventor of the eponymous range-finding instrument through which Feldt had spent the war peering over a slate-grey North Sea. A true visionary who fought constantly with the Australian defence establishment, Dumaresq would succumb to a sudden bout of pneumonia just a year later.


Feldt’s first voyage onboard the Melbourne took him up the east Australian coast, then north on a journey that would blow open Feldt’s horizons and pave the path of his future. Calling first at Tulagi in the British Solomon Islands, the ship’s course then took in some of the smaller, outlying places with exotic names such as Tikopia, Utapua and Vanikoro. Feldt had never seen anything like them, sensing a rugged majesty, inhabited by people unbound by the laws and parameters of his own upbringing. At Port Vila, he met a Melanesian man and was delighted to converse in some of the rudimentary Pidgin he had learned as a child from the islander cane-cutters on his family’s farm. Walking the streets of Noumea, Feldt swore to himself to return. His days as a naval officer were numbered.


Back in Australia at Jervis Bay, while overseeing torpedofiring exercises, Feldt came to the realisation that, in this postwar world, his chances of the travel and promotion he longed for were rapidly evaporating. In April 1922, he made the decision to resign the commission for which he had toiled so long by placing his name on the Navy’s Retired List. He was twenty-three years old.


After packing his bags, he travelled to Sydney, reflecting later that, ‘The sun was still shining, the breeze was blowing, the trees were green and the world was just the same, although I wasn’t any longer in the Navy.’


•


The adventure Feldt sought would indeed come to pass, not on the high seas but in the great mass of jungle to Australia’s north, New Guinea. At over 800 000 square kilometres, New Guinea ranks as the second largest island in the world, surpassed in scale only by the northern hemisphere’s Greenland. For centuries, its misty valleys, wild rivers and impossibly high mountains remained impenetrable to the outside world. One of its hundreds of tribes, the Dani people of the Baliem Valley, first encountered outsiders only in the 1930s. For millennia they had believed themselves to be the only people on earth and were convinced that the astonished party of white-skinned Europeans who had finally broken the seal of their remote valley were the spirits of their own long-dead ancestors.


Since 1828 the Dutch had notionally claimed the western half of the island as part of their vast East Indies empire, attracting envious glances from Australia, particularly Queensland who, though a colony herself, fancied some empire building of her own. In April 1883, Premier Thomas McIlwraith (described in one contemporary newspaper editorial as possessing a ‘barnacle tenacity to stay in office’) made his move, asking Britain whether he might be allowed to annex the southeastern corner of New Guinea in the name of the Crown, to which London responded with an unequivocal ‘No’. Undeterred, McIlwraith went ahead and did it anyway.


Living quietly on remote Thursday Island, the local Police Magistrate Henry Chester no doubt leaped from his comfortable chair when receiving the telegraphed order to sail over to the infant settlement at Port Moresby, run up the Union Jack over the harbour, and claim it all for the Empire as the new ‘Territory of Papua’. For good measure, Chester also took the opportunity to fire off a few shells at a group of supposedly ‘warlike’ natives he didn’t like the look of, before returning home.


The British, who in fact had no ambitions whatsoever in New Guinea, were furious at being presented with this imperial fait accompli by a cocky colonial government, but their hand was now forced into proclaiming a protectorate over their new and unsought province. McIlwraith smugly insisted he had done it to head off the Germans, who were busy building their own South Pacific empire, though the prospect of acquiring cheap labour for Queensland’s burgeoning sugar industry – a ghastly process known as ‘blackbirding’ – may have touched upon his true motives.


The following year, the Germans did indeed help themselves to a nearly 100 000 square mile chunk of the island’s northwestern corner, proclaiming it as ‘Kaiser-Wilhelmsland’. This in turn required the British to formally annex their own neighbouring protectorate, which they renamed – in now unequivocal terms – ‘British New Guinea’.


In 1905, after twenty years of finding no good use for the place, the British, in a fit of pique, threw it back onto the Australian government to administer entirely at their own expense – resulting in yet another name change, to the Australian Territory of Papua.


When World War I erupted in 1914, Kaiser Wilhelmsland, by now one of the most poorly defended and farthest flung of Imperial Germany’s provinces, was quickly overrun by a token Australian land and naval force. At war’s end, after some vociferous lobbying at Versailles by Prime Minister Billy Hughes, Germany was relieved of their colony and it was made a League of Nations Mandated Territory to be administered by Australia. Thus, only though recently a series of colonies herself, Australia found herself in the peculiar position of running two adjacent, almost identical provinces: the Australian Mandated Territory of New Guinea in the northeast of the island, and the Australian Territory of Papua to its immediate south.


Australia was not the only Pacific nation who hankered after the Kaiser’s colonial spoils at Versailles. Having joined the Allied side early in the war, Japan had lent her Imperial Navy to overrun some of Germany’s northern Pacific possessions, and now enquired in a voice more polite but no less forceful than Australia’s as to whether she might be allowed to keep them. Having not the slightest idea why anyone would want a bunch of isolated Pacific atolls devoid of resources, the victorious powers were more than happy to let them go to appease a loyal ally. Hence, the lion’s share of Germany’s Pacific empire north of the equator – the Marshall, Mariana and Gilbert Islands – slipped quietly into the orbit of the Japanese Empire. One of those, Truk, a vast protected lagoon in the Caroline Islands, would later come in handy as Japan’s primary Pacific naval base of World War II.









Chapter 2


PROBLEMS OF INTELLIGENCE


Admittedly a xenophobe who harboured a deep antipathy to all non-Anglo-Saxon races, Billy Hughes had seen through Japan’s long strategic game, proclaiming that, after centuries of isolation, Japan was now intent on establishing an empire of her own through force. Had the rest of the world forgotten, asked Hughes, that less than two decades earlier, she had shocked the world when her navy burst onto the world’s stage in her territorial war with Russia over Manchuria? How she had ruthlessly demolished the Russian fleet in surprise attacks on Port Arthur and Tsushima, declaring war only after their victories had been completed? The Allies, Hughes now reminded anyone who would listen, had sighed with relief at Japan’s decision to side with them during World War I and not the Central Powers. But don’t be fooled, he warned. This was simply their Act One. In a 1919 letter to London, he thundered:




It’s a long way from Tokyo to Whitehall, but we are within a stone’s throw. I desire again to emphasise that our fleet is practically without fuel, and in any case quite unequal to meet Japanese with any hope of success … that we profoundly distrust Japan … that the experiences of Port Arthur shows she strikes first and declares war afterwards.





In New Guinea, what the native people made of their land being squabbled over by foreigners like hagglers at a fish market can only be guessed at. It is reasonable to assume that the New Guinea Act 1920, formalising Australia’s takeover of the entire eastern half of the island and many of its outlying provinces, went largely unnoticed as it made its way through the Australian parliament in faraway Melbourne.


One man, however, noticed it very closely indeed. At nearly seventy, Captain Chapman James Clare was something of a legend in the Royal Australian Navy – one of its original founding figures – and a man for whom the phrase ‘salt water runs in his veins’ could well have been coined. Literally born at sea in the middle of a Bay of Biscay storm in 1853 onboard one of his father’s merchant vessels, Clare spent almost his entire life on the water, initially as a merchant sailor, criss-crossing the world and having adventures on every type of vessel imaginable, from opium steamers to lighthouse-servicing cutters, even being involved in the Boxer Rebellion in 1900. He then joined – and later commanded – the small colonial South Australian naval force. Upon Federation, Clare became the second-most senior officer in the nascent Royal Australian Navy, and was even selected as one of the dozen or so judges tasked with choosing the design of the new Australian flag.


After service in World War I escorting Australian troop convoys, Clare found himself during his twilight years back at his old prewar job as district naval officer at the port of Fremantle, Western Australia. On the eve of his retirement, he had time to reflect on the scale of the oceans over which he had spent his life traversing, as well as the near-impossible task of protecting Australia’s vast coastline of roughly 19 000 miles which, if unravelled in a straight line, would stretch the entire distance from Sydney to London.


He had also noted the ease with which hostile naval forces – including countless German merchant raiders – had been able to find their way through the chain of islands to the north and sidle up to the Australian mainland virtually at will, due to a complete paucity of decent naval intelligence. Military thinking at the time speculated, probably correctly, that should an entire foreign army choose to sail up and disgorge itself onto some remote part of the Australian coastline, it would most likely be weeks before anyone knew they were there. What Australia needed, said Clare, was some kind of early warning system, particularly in this new age of smaller, faster vessels and, of course, aircraft.


In his research, historian Patrick Lindsay has uncovered a series of dispatches from the Australian Naval Board to the Admiralty in London sent at the height of World War I. In one, an anonymous Australian intelligence officer stated in early 1917 that:




It is sometimes necessary to leave south-western Australia quite unprotected, and at times there have been no vessels available for the protection of the southern and eastern Australian waters. No attack has been made on our trade in Australian waters, but … there are on the coast of Australia and the near islands, anchorages and harbours where there are no inhabitants, and which are seldom or never visited.





Now, in the navy’s postwar contraction, Clare believed there would be even less chance of preventing an encroachment from some hostile power to the north. Whether, like Billy Hughes, he assumed that power to be Japan is unclear, but as he ruminated on Australia’s long and porous border, he hit upon an idea so ingenious, so logical, and yet so breathtakingly simple, that the powers of the time immediately adopted it in its entirety.


Given the navy was in no position to resource a national early warning system of its own, why not, reasoned Clare, create one from a resource that already existed? In an extensive memo, he suggested that up and down the Australian coast responsible and presumably patriotic-minded citizens from a variety of walks of life were to be found – postmasters, harbour masters, cattle station owners, prospectors, missionaries – people who could be relied upon to answer their country’s call. Why could not people such as these be organised into a loose confederation of information gatherers – indeed, spies – who, in time of war, could gather intelligence of enemy activity, particularly aircraft and shipping?


Demands on the participating individuals would hardly be irksome, said Clare. They would be required to do no more than simply record their observations as they went about their daily lives. No remuneration would be offered – no funds were available in any case – but the honour of being asked to serve one’s country should be payment enough. And as for the method of reporting, what better means than the post office telegraph system, which already covered vast sections of the Australian continent?


Upon Clare’s suggestion, a Staff Paper soon emerged from the Navy Office in Melbourne. This was brought to the attention of the Chief of Naval Staff, Admiral Sir Percy Grant, who thought the idea a splendid one, largely on account of it requiring an outlay of virtually nothing. He then sent the idea up to the Minister for Defence, George Pearce, who likewise embraced it wholeheartedly, possibly on account of him being a senator for Western Australia and acutely aware of his own state’s particularly long and vulnerable coastline.


Pearce insisted on a meeting between the three services to discuss the proposal which, in a rare moment of interservice equanimity, was again met with enthusiasm all round. It was also agreed that, since the plan focused primarily on maritime security, it should be brought under the aegis of the navy, specifically the Naval Intelligence Division, which would also be charged with getting the whole scheme up and running.


In the early 1920s, however, Australia’s Naval Intelligence Division was incapable of doing anything much at all. Following deep postwar financial cuts, support for naval intelligence had sunk to such a level that even the title ‘Intelligence Officer’ was dropped from the Naval Staff List altogether. A report into the state of the RAN prepared by the venerated (albeit controversial) hero of Jutland, Admiral John Jellicoe, painted an alarming picture. Jellicoe prepared the report in Melbourne while on his way to New Zealand to take up the post of Governor-General there, having already turned down the offer for the role from Australia. In his report, he appears to view Australian naval intelligence as something of a joke:




It is worthy of note that there is only one other officer shown as a ‘Director of Naval Intelligence’, namely, ‘The Director of Naval Intelligence, Admiralty’. This title, therefore, would seem to presuppose the existence of an intelligence department at the Navy Office, Melbourne, on similar lines to that at the Admiralty, and responsible for the issue of intelligence publications to the Royal Australian Navy. The machinery for carrying out this all-important work at the Navy Office does not exist at present.





‘It is considered,’ Jellicoe went on to suggest, ‘that in order to place the Intelligence Department of the Navy Office on a firm basis, the services of an officer of the Royal Navy possessing qualified experience in the Intelligence Division of the Admiralty Naval Staff should be obtained.’


The situation was further brought to a head when the British Admiralty called upon the RAN to supply information on former German Pacific colonies to assist in the production of a series of geographical intelligence publications, and were shocked to discover that Australia could supply almost nothing of value. This prompted the Secretary of State for the Colonies to politely suggest that the appointment of an experienced British intelligence officer might be a good thing all round. Australia quietly agreed.


In 1921, a Royal Marine officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Francis Home Griffiths, arrived in Melbourne to take up a three-year posting of Imperial Liaison Intelligence Officer with the RAN, a title that was soon upgraded to Director of Naval Intelligence.


Griffiths found the division rundown, starved of both funds and staff, and regarded so poorly by the wider defence community – particularly its own Naval Board – that there was initially very little for him to work with. One of his first initiatives was to relocate the division to Sydney, ostensibly to be closer to Australia’s largest port and naval base at Garden Island, but also to extract himself from the closeted and paranoid atmosphere of the Melbourne headquarters. With almost no staff, Griffiths buttonholed a civilian navy office accounts clerk, Walter Brooksbank, to be his assistant. Motivated by desperation though it was, Griffiths’s choice turned out to be a stroke of pure genius.


Brooksbank was a former soldier, a ‘short, blunt-featured, fresh complexioned-man with humorous and observant blue eyes’, according to a later newspaper description. In World War I, he had served with the AIF’s 7th Infantry Battalion, coming ashore at Gallipoli with the first landing on 25 April 1915, and later earning himself both the Military Medal and a field commission as an officer. Brooksbank was quiet, methodical and thorough. He ran on seemingly boundless energy, possessed a phenomenal memory and, as would be proven later on the grim battlefields of the Solomons, was utterly devoid of physical fear. He was also, in the style of a true intelligence operative, something of an eccentric. Under the pseudonym Horton Brooks, he would later write short stories about his experiences during the war and other topics, and even pen the occasional radio play. Later, when visiting Guadalcanal, Brooksbank, wearing his signature tailored Palm Beach suit and Panama hat, would visit the frontline foxholes of astonished Marines, utterly oblivious to the danger of Japanese sniper bullets.


The brief to begin work on establishing the network, combined with the arrival of Brooksbank, was a perfect juncture for the Naval Intelligence Division. Not only did it now possess its raison d’être, but it also had just the man to coax it into reality.


Selected citizens situated around the Australian coast were sought out and recruited from lists of postmasters, harbour masters, schoolteachers, railway officials, local police and government officials. Initially dubbed ‘Special Reporting Officers’, each man (women were not asked) was given an area of responsibility pertaining to their location. They were to supply information on maritime infrastructure, as well as sightings of any suspicious vessels. Priority telegraph access would be granted through the Postmaster General’s Department.


To instruct on the techniques of observation and ship recognition, Brooksbank prepared a slim but concise volume, the Naval Coastwatching Guide, which would become the indispensable handbook for all special reporting officers, as well as provide the organisation with the name by which it would become universally known – the Coastwatchers.


It was at this early stage that another of Clare’s initial suggestions was implemented, leading to a decision which, while unforeseen at the time, would transform the Coastwatchers from a limited domestic undertaking to one which, twenty years later, would have the power to turn the course of battles in the midst of a world war.


Why not, proposed Clare, expand the scheme into Australia’s new mandated territories in New Guinea, and even the British protectorate over the southern Solomon Islands? Here, a ready and established population of ‘islanders’ – European settlers engaged as planters, administration officials, traders and missionaries – could be similarly employed, providing a service across the vital arc of islands to Australia’s north.


It was never envisaged for the Coastwatchers to be called upon to operate in territory occupied by an enemy, or to take an active part in hostilities. The brief was to safely engage in passive observation.


Accordingly, in June 1923, Griffiths sent Brooksbank to join HMAS Adelaide on a five-week cruise to the Solomons where, accompanied by an experienced photographic surveyor, RAAF Flying Officer Ernest Mustar, nine anchorages and harbours were photographed and recorded in detail, as well as their potential to become seaplane bases. A second cruise by another RAN warship, HMAS Brisbane, undertook a similar mission to the large harbour of Rabaul on the island of New Britain, then the capital of New Guinea. The subsequent reports that would emanate from Brooksbank and the Naval Intelligence Division would be of invaluable use at the beginning of the Pacific War.


While in the Solomons, Brooksbank made initial forays into recruiting Coastwatchers from among the European community, and found many willing participants. Unlike on the Australian mainland, however, no telegraph service existed to disseminate information they might collect. The problem was partly solved by the issuing of a number of the recently invented pedal-powered radios, but these proved to be of limited success.


During peacetime, it was understood throughout the fledgling Coastwatcher system that sightings of ‘suspicious’ vessels would likely be rare. Even so, the network was put to good use reporting other nefarious activities such as the poaching of fishing grounds, smugglers, gun runners, drug traffickers and those seeking to enter the country illegally. In fact, any ‘subversive behaviour’ deemed to be unusual or suspicious by Coastwatchers was liable to be reported. The revival in Australian naval intelligence brought about by Griffiths and Brooksbank was not to last. Upon the termination of his three-year appointment in March 1923, Griffiths – no doubt relieved to be pulled from the bitter tangle that was Australian defence politics at the time – returned to England.


Despite an array of achievements – including the establishment of the beginnings of the Coastwatcher network; amassing a trove of useful intelligence regarding Australia’s neighbours from New Guinea to New Caledonia; expanding the Naval Intelligence Division into new offices to undertake such work as the investigation of possible Communist cells within Australian naval ships and institutions; and the new Sydney branch being praised as ‘a model example of a district Intelligence Centre’ – Griffiths’s position was abolished at the conclusion of his tenure. In 1923, the entire division lost its separate status within the Navy Office and was brought under the orbit of the Assistant Chief of Naval Staff back in Melbourne.


Australian naval intelligence would now go into hibernation for a decade and a half, during which time the staff numbers at the Department of Naval Intelligence would never exceed more than four people at any one time. Despite keen and qualified potential operators coming forward to volunteer their services, all had to be turned away.


As Eric Feldt observed in his seminal 1946 memoir, The Coast Watchers, ‘Democracies neglect their fighting services in peace and pay for that neglect many times over when the disaster of war strikes them.’


Fortunately, one of those whose tenure survived was Walter Brooksbank, who busied himself producing intelligence handbooks on the regions he had visited. There was also the job of consolidating the Coastwatching organisation, which by 1928 constituted a network of around sixty people stretching in a long arc from Thursday Island and Port Moresby, east to Nauru and Port Vila.


It would not be until the very eve of World War II that the importance of intelligence would once again belatedly be appreciated, and a new head of intelligence would be appointed, the first since Griffiths’s departure.


Rupert Basil Michel Long outwardly lacked the appearance of a typical intelligence commander. Long, or ‘Cocky’ as he was known, on account of the distinctive screech which rose in his voice when agitated, was cherubic in appearance, fond of entertaining and enjoyed a wide and influential social circle. Eric Feldt, who liked to pen vivid physical descriptions of the many people he encountered, noted Long as ‘fattish … with a high, broad forehead and a small, thin-lipped mouth which was usually smiling’. Behind the deceptive charm of the bon vivant, however, was a brilliant mind, and Long’s razor-sharp political acumen would eventually see him represent both MI5 and MI6 and earn the respect of intelligence communities the world over.


After brief service in World War I, Long was sent to England as a midshipman to undergo further training with the Royal Navy. For his lieutenant’s course, he achieved the unheard-of maximum of five first-class certificates. He then studied the use and application of torpedoes, about which he became an acknowledged expert, and in 1934 was invited to apply for the prestigious staff course at the Royal Naval Staff College, Greenwich. This too he passed with flying colours. Rather than remain in England, Long applied for the position of Assistant Director of Naval Intelligence at naval HQ in St Kilda Road, Melbourne. The Navy Board – baffled as to why a rising star such as he would forgo an international career for this relatively minor position – were nevertheless delighted to hand him the job, particularly as no one else seemed to want it.


With the Naval Intelligence Division (NID) still a mere adjunct of the Assistant Chief of Naval Staff, Long found himself ‘assistant’ to no one at all. He soon discovered such a position could have its advantages. For years, he had nursed a burning ambition to unleash his prodigious intellect onto the field of naval intelligence, despite the fact that this would condemn him to spend the rest of his career as a lieutenant-commander, the highest rank the navy was prepared to attach to the position. But progressing up the naval career ladder was at the bottom of Long’s list of priorities, particularly as he sensed war was just over the horizon.


Having previously served in the waters around China and other parts of the Far East, Long had read the tides of international affairs and was quietly certain that, despite the worsening situation in Europe, Australia’s primary aggressor would soon be Japan and the fight would be much closer to home than anyone realised. Convincing his superiors of this threat was an uphill battle, and in the years before the war, Long and the NID struggled against lack of funding, lack of staff and lack of interest.


Despite this, he and Walter Brooksbank were anything but idle. Throughout the DNI’s long winter, Brooksbank had been quietly buttressing the Coastwatching organisation from a few dozen operatives a decade earlier to nearly 800 by 1938. It still wasn’t enough. Looking at the map of northern Australia and its surrounding islands, both men knew there were still gaping holes in the network, which they likened to a fence with several broken or missing gates, through which any aggressor could pass undetected.


There was also the grave problem of communication. Coastwatchers might gather the most important information imaginable, but none of it would be of any use if not conveyed, and quickly. Some, but by no means all, of the planters and other islanders were in possession of radios of their own, but there was no guarantee their signals would be picked up as far away as the Australian mainland. What was needed, Long realised, was a new intelligence station in Port Moresby where messages could be received and the entire organisation managed. Much of his pleadings for more resources fell on deaf ears.


In late 1938, a new Assistant Chief of Naval Staff and Director of Naval Intelligence was appointed in the figure of Captain John Collins, one of Australia’s greatest naval commanders who also happened to have been in the Pioneer Class with Long and, luckily, a man who was prepared to listen. Upon briefing Collins, Long laid out in stark terms the problems facing the DNI. Collins was aghast, and promised to take the matter as far as he could.


By 1939, Collins’s influence, as well as the international situation which everyone could now plainly see was deteriorating, finally resulted in more funding for the DNI, as well as its reinstatement as an independently functioning department. Now forced to cram many wasted years of work into a few months, Long immediately put the new resources towards the purchase of a strong and sturdy radio for each of his Coastwatchers operating outside the Australian mainland. The establishment of a new Naval Intelligence Centre in Port Moresby was, thankfully, granted.


In August, barely a week before the firing of the first shots of World War II, Collins was given an active command at sea, and Long named as his successor as director of the Department of Naval Intelligence.


Long knew there was precious little time to build up the Coastwatchers into an effective intelligence network. Even more importantly, he needed to find the right man to lead them.









Chapter 3


FELDT TAKES CHARGE


Eric Feldt paused and turned. Signalling with a slow wave of the flat blade of his machete, he urged the line of men behind him to be vigilant. His outward appearance of calm authority hid the cold dread in his veins. God knew what lay up ahead on this impossible mountain track for his little group of a dozen or so native police and a few local bearers who seemed to grow more nervous with every step. Sampson, Feldt’s deputy and the man in charge of the police, caught whiff of the boss’s tension and hissed at one of his men to stop talking.


For eight days now, they had trekked up into the mountains, through the Bulolo Valley, and then deeper into one of the most remote corners of one of the most inaccessible parts of the New Guinea highlands, the Upper Watut Valley. In March 1931, this was a place few outsiders had ever ventured, and for good reason. Of the many hundreds of New Guinea tribes, the Upper Watut was the domain of perhaps the most feared – even dreaded – tribe, one whose name struck fear into those living on the slopes below their inviolable mountain eyrie. Eric Feldt and his little party were entering the world of the Angu, though in this part of New Guinea they went by another name, rarely uttered, and then only in a tremulous whisper, Kukukuku.


Although rarely taller than 5 feet in stature, the Kukukuku were a New Guinea warrior tribe like no other. The Kukukuku pierced the septums of their noses with bone or bamboo and the men shaved their heads leaving only a top-knot from which a cloak of beaten bark – a Mal – hung to their knees. This not only protected them from the savage mountain winds and rain but could wrap around their entire body as camouflage. It was said to be almost impossible, even at close range, to detect a hidden Kukukuku waiting still in the jungle. With their bows and arrows, they were superb marksmen. Their primary weapon, however, was a stone axe, attached to a wristband and concealed behind their Mal, but which they could whip out in a flash to disembowel or crash down onto the skull of an enemy.


The Kukukuku were quick to anger, could kill suddenly and without apparent motive, and were entirely unpredictable. They were also one of the last of the true New Guinea headhunters, venturing out on raiding parties to surprise the inhabitants of a neighbouring village, whom they would kill at random then behead. After carrying off their macabre souvenirs, they would boil the heads down and decorate them as trophies.


The Australian and British administrations of New Guinea and the Solomons had done their best to stamp out the ancient headhunting practice and, by the 1930s, had been largely successful. But the Kukukuku were a different matter again. The discovery of gold had seen an influx of outsiders – particularly Europeans – into previously unknown parts of the country. A special permit was required to venture into the Upper Watut, and it was granted only to ‘experienced men of good character’. One of those was Helmuth Baum, a German prospector for many years in New Guinea, who, at the beginning of World War I, had vanished into the bush rather than surrender to the Australians, only to emerge again after the war. Baum claimed to have had friendly dealings with the Kukukuku, even occasionally trading with them. He loudly professed he held no fear of them.


In the mid-1930s, Baum and a party of eight native workers travelled through Kukukuku country in search of new gold-bearing deposits in the hills, but Baum was laid up for a few days in a nearby village with fever. In his vulnerable state, he was surprised by several Kukukuku warriors; all semblance of friendliness was dropped and Baum was clubbed to death in his bed. His native workers fled into the jungle but were all tracked down and killed.


In silence, sitting in his office at Wau, Feldt had listened as two breathless villagers recounted the news of the massacre – or what they had heard of it on the jungle grapevine. As warden, and an experienced district officer, Feldt knew that it would fall to him to take action, and that it would be by far his most dangerous undertaking in the more than ten years he had spent in New Guinea.


•


If, by the mid-1930s, Eric Feldt could no longer remember what it was that had inspired him, in 1923, to write to the then Minister of Home Affairs and Territories applying for ‘any subordinate position offering’ in New Guinea, he was even less certain as to why he had been accepted. A few weeks after his letter, he was onboard a ship bound for New Britain and the administrative capital of Rabaul to begin work as a junior clerk, the last to be accepted in an intake of ten.


Having never set foot in an office before, Feldt had no idea what he was doing, though took comfort in the fact that nobody else there did either. As it transpired, Feldt was at something of an advantage with the smattering of Pidgin English he already knew, and began applying himself to mastering this peculiar, hybrid language.


Despite its wide streets and relative comfort, Feldt disliked Rabaul and the petty snobberies of its closeted colonial society. He longed to venture off the island to the ‘Territory’ instead. Luckily, those at the lowest rungs of the administration could enter the patrol officer stream. From the get-go, Feldt was a natural fit.


In a short time, he found himself venturing up New Guinea’s longest river, the mighty Sepik, in a small schooner with a Chinese engineer and four natives as part of an expedition to investigate tribal fighting that had broken out upstream.


For Feldt, this first trip was an eye-opener, introducing him to the magnificence of New Guinea, its beauty as well as its savagery. Over the next decade, he would rise through the ranks of the administration and be rewarded by being made Kiap – a Pidgin word derived from the German Kapitan – or simply patrol officer. He would contend with malaria, familiarise himself as best he could with the various strands of internecine tribal politics, be called upon to administer justice, conduct marriage ceremonies and dispense medical treatment for tropical diseases such as yaws, scrub typhus, and even the dreaded blackwater fever.


Feldt soon developed a calm and natural authority that would see him ascend to patrol officer, assistant district officer, district officer and on the eve of World War II, warden of the goldfield settlement of Wau. He would witness mystical mountain waterfalls so tall that their tops were permanently hidden in cloud, and the wonders of grass islands: vast floating sections of riverbank torn off by the mighty currents, still with upright trees and even animals attached. He was told a man could walk across one of these, but if he stopped his feet would sink straight through. He would be called upon to quell native wars, venturing deep into the jungle to administer the white man’s laws. Once he saved a woman’s life by gathering up her infant twins, placing one on each hip, and shielding her from a group of belligerent warriors from a neighbouring tribe, daring them to do their worst. They paused, lowered their spears and retreated back into the jungle.


When promoted to district officer, Feldt collected taxes and organised the census. In order to know the country and its people better, he spent more time than usual with the natives, even learning a handful of the more than 500 languages spread across every corner of New Guinea. Only rarely had he been required to withdraw from administering justice, such as when he was laying down the law to a warring hill tribe and instructed his native interpreter to explain that they were to stop fighting their neighbours immediately or face the consequences. The interpreter paused and surveyed the line of spear-wielding men before him. ‘I’m not going to tell them that,’ he said warily. Sensing weakness, the tribesmen advanced, and for once it was Feldt who had to beat a prudent retreat.


Despite this, nothing in his years as the face of order and law in New Guinea could prepare him for encountering the Kukukuku.


•


As the wary party made its way along the valley, the Kukukuku took to the hills, slapping their rumps in the time-honoured gesture of disrespect and defiance as they scrambled away. From somewhere, the deep-throated syncopation of the garamut – a native drum carved from a hollow log which, in skilful hands, could convey a message as complex as any letter – telegraphed their progress. There would be no element of surprise today, thought Feldt. Nor was he clear as to what he was expected to achieve. Reports on the attack on Baum indicated that several villages had been involved and Feldt was unlikely to discover which they were, let alone the individuals, nor how they would react to this risky display of authority. In his own mind though, his duty was clear:




A District Officer has a further duty than the punishment of a single crime, however serious that crime may be. The country has to be brought under a rule of law, so that men may go about peacefully in the future. To walk away and do nothing would not bring that condition nearer.





Instead of being confronted, Feldt found a series of empty Kukukuku villages, the locals deciding to avoid punishment by hiding in the bush until the patrol’s provisions were exhausted. Feldt ordered his men to forgo their rations and help themselves to the Kukukuku’s village gardens instead. The garden was a New Guinea villager’s most treasured possession and, after a few days, the Kukukuku – observing from the jungle – could no longer stand to watch their gardens being pillaged and slowly began to return.


When seven tribesmen turned up, Feldt ordered his men to arrest them immediately. When the other tribesmen returned, they were confronted with the sight of their fellow warriors in handcuffs, having apparently been overpowered by this mighty white warrior. Feldt’s grand bluff had won. The next day the Kukukuku were led to Baum’s campsite in the village where the killing had taken place and were made to re-enact what had happened. Through sign language, all denied their own involvement, but Feldt could see ‘guilt in their eyes’.


Eventually, a small group of Kukukuku were jailed in Salamaua, any further punishment both pointless and counterproductive. Not many months later, they were released with a stern lecture, which seemed to keep the peace. Feldt’s trek had lasted six weeks, at the end of which he had lost much of his body weight and was unrecognisable behind a bushy beard.


Bringing the Kukukuku to heel would be Feldt’s magnum opus until the war began the most dramatic chapter of his life. In the middle of 1939 in his office at Wau, reading yet another headline concerning the deteriorating international situation, he pulled out a clean sheet of paper from his desk drawer and penned a letter to the Naval Board in Melbourne, stating that if they could find a use for him, he would be happy for his name to be transferred from the ‘retired’ to the ‘emergency’ list.


In August, with his new wife, Nan, Feldt travelled to Brisbane for some much-delayed long service leave. Stopping by a shoe shop one afternoon, he was pleased to find a pair sturdy enough for the harsh climate of New Guinea. As he left the shop, he caught notice of a newspaper poster announcing the signing of a non-aggression pact between Hitler and Stalin. Cursing quietly to himself, he knew that he would not be returning to Wau anytime soon.


•


In Melbourne, the new Director of Naval Intelligence, Lieutenant-Commander ‘Cocky’ Long, had to look twice at the name on the latest naval emergency list, then slapped his desk with glee, not quite daring to hope that his luck might be starting to turn. Now, finally, he had found the man he had been looking for, his old classmate from the original Pioneer Class of the Royal Australian Navy, Eric Feldt. Not only did Feldt know New Guinea, its islands and its people, but he was also familiar with that very particular community of European ‘islanders’ who had made the tropics their home, and who would form the core of the Coastwatcher organisation. ‘Eric Feldt!’ Long repeated to himself.


Though Feldt’s and Long’s careers may have diverged over the years, they were now destined to come together in the gravest hour of their country’s need. Further enquiries revealed more good fortune, in that Feldt was reported to currently be visiting Brisbane. His digs were quickly located, phone calls were made, and a telegram dispatched advising him that the navy had accepted his offer to rejoin their ranks and could he kindly report to Naval HQ in Melbourne as soon as possible.


On 8 September 1939, with the war less than a week old, the two former navy classmates were reunited in an office behind the imposing bluestone edifice of Melbourne’s Victoria Barracks. With a warm handshake, Long greeted his old friend with his customary ‘Have a cigarette, old boy’, before Long and Brooksbank laid out the Coastwatcher system, its development over the past twenty years, and the gaping holes which urgently had to be filled by new operatives, who, he added, had yet to be found. ‘Yes,’ admitted Long with a heavy sigh, anticipating Feldt’s reaction, ‘all this should have been sorted out years ago but … well, here we are.’


All agreed that the conflict would not be contained to Europe, and that Japan would at some stage launch its bid to build a Pacific empire by force. Long outlined the importance of the civilian-based information-gathering Coastwatcher network to the north, and indicated how it was woefully incomplete and that any enemy could currently approach Australia almost without fear of discovery. His vision, he told Feldt, was for the chain to be complete, and the gate to Australia closed. He confessed though to having little idea how to bring that vision to fruition. ‘That, old boy,’ he said to Feldt, ‘is where you come in.’


Indicating what he was about to say was strictly ‘hush-hush’, Long revealed that a new intelligence office was being established in Moresby which, in all likelihood, would become a vital link in the defence chain north of Australia in the event of war. He believed Feldt was the perfect man to set it up. Reporting directly to Long, Feldt would be charged with recruiting as many new Coastwatchers as he could find to plug the holes and ‘close the gate’.


There was more. Feldt was not only being asked to expand the network but to run it as he saw fit. If he accepted, he would be appointed Moresby intelligence staff officer with the rank of lieutenant-commander. As Long spoke, casually sitting on the edge of his desk, cigarette in hand, Feldt became aware of the weight of the responsibility being slowly lowered onto his shoulders. He was being asked to set up and command a large and complex intelligence organisation – as yet nebulous and incomplete – stretching thousands of miles across Papua, New Guinea and the Solomon Islands, through some of the most undeveloped areas on earth, in which there was no telegraph, not a single rail track and less than 500 miles of useable roads.


He agreed at once.


As Long later reflected, ‘Eric was the logical – but nonetheless inspired – choice for this pressing task.’


A few days later the Coastwatcher organisation was ordered to commence functioning.









Chapter 4


THE FAR-REACHING NETWORK


In September 1939, three weeks after his first meeting with his old friend – now his boss – Rupert Long in Australia, Feldt had travelled by plane to Port Moresby. After barely an hour’s inspection of the beginnings of what was to become the navy’s new intelligence centre as well as his own HQ, Feldt boarded another plane which took him on to his old stomping ground of Rabaul. Here he would begin a whirlwind mission that would span hundreds of miles of tropics to enlist every man capable of performing the role of Coastwatcher, especially those already in possession of a radio. It was a daunting task, underlined with the urgency that the war currently raging in faraway Poland would one day reach these peaceful islands and possibly Australia itself.


The administrator in Rabaul, Sir Walter McNicoll, possibly sensing his vulnerability far out into the Pacific, received Feldt warmly and promised every assistance. He was good for his word. McNicoll provided a Chinese schooner, the Magau, and its crew, enabling Feldt to reach New Britain’s even less developed neighbour, New Ireland. Arriving at Lambu on the island’s west coast, he visited and signed up several plantation owners, before taking a truck as far as the rough island roads would allow. Then he got out and walked. ‘Taking a sheaf of printed coastwatching instructions with me,’ Feldt wrote later, ‘I set out to visit every man who had a Teleradio, to teach him how to code in Playfair, to tell him what to report.’


Having been allotted a parsimonious 200 pounds by Long for the entire venture, Feldt nonetheless had reason to thank Walter Brooksbank, whose instructive Coastwatchers Guide was handed out liberally. Accompanying this was a further set of guidelines regarding the language that Feldt had chosen as the Coastwatchers’ means of communication, the Playfair cipher, a nearly century-old manual encryption technique based on substituted letter combinations or ‘bigrams’, which was familiar to many schoolchildren of the time. Today, a computer could break Playfair in microseconds, but in 1939, this low-grade code could be easily learned and required no equipment except a list of agreed keywords and pencil and paper. Feldt developed his own ‘Playfair-Feldt’ variation to increase the code’s security and speed. Because speed, as Feldt was at pains to point out to every Coastwatcher he enrolled, would be of the absolute essence.


On New Ireland, Feldt somehow acquired a bicycle on which he completed a 25-mile journey the first day, followed by a slightly longer one the next to the town of Namatanai on the island’s east coast. He then managed to borrow a car – or possibly even hitched – to New Ireland’s far northern tip, again stopping at various plantations and missions along the way. Here, he was given use of another vessel, the MV Leander, to take him to Pak and Manus islands, far out in the Bismarck Sea.


Everywhere he could, Feldt enlisted civilians by meeting them personally and impressing upon them the simple yet vital role they had to play in the coming defence of Australia. ‘Throughout,’ he observed later, ‘personal contact was of greater importance than the official relationship.’ Many were friends or acquaintances from his time in New Guinea, happy to see him once again, albeit as a man reinvented, and on the most urgent of missions. Property and plantation owners, customs officials, missionaries and several district officers from his former life were all sought out. Almost all agreed to become part of his Coastwatcher scheme and were signed up there and then before swearing the oath that Feldt had printed and ready. He even worked his powers of persuasion on the captain of the Leander, managing to sign him up while he was his passenger.


‘My travels took me all around the area by ship, motor boat and canoe, boot, bicycle and aeroplane, so that I saw nearly everybody, and nearly everybody saw me.’ He signed up Coastwatchers at the Maka Island group and Ulawa Island, then it was east to Bougainville and south through the Solomons, where he signed up Coastwatchers in the towns of Numa Numa, Kieta and Buka. At no time did Feldt attempt to hide the dangers of what his Coastwatchers were signing up for. When asked by one candidate if there were any special benefits which went with the duty, Feldt’s answer was blunt. ‘The only thing I can promise you,’ he said, ‘is the promise of certain peril.’


Only once was he forced to turn back, when trying to reach Vanikoro, an outlying island of the Solomons on a vessel the acting resident commissioner, a Mr Johnson, had lent him for the purpose. ‘A raging south-easter’ rose up, blew bitterly for twenty-eight hours, and created seas savage enough to stove in the ship’s port bulwarks, forcing them to shelter at San Cristobal. Running low on fuel, Feldt reluctantly agreed to turn around.


Aside from collecting Coastwatchers, Feldt took the opportunity to gather information. Much of it confirmed his and Long’s belief that the islands were being prepared as a future war zone. Already reports of ‘strange ships and aircraft’ sighted off New Ireland and the Admiralty Islands were filtering through. Then there was the schooner Edith, whose Japanese captain, supposedly a trochus fisherman, brought in suspiciously small amounts of shell while spending extended periods in various ports from where letters were regularly mailed back to an address very close to the Imperial Naval Headquarters in Tokyo.
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